BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GWENDOLYN BALL ET AL

APPELLANTS

v.

CAUSE NO: 2006-CA-02126

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF NATCHEZ, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JAMES A. BOBO MS BAR NO.

AKERS & BOBO PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 280 BRANDON, MISSISSIPPI 39043 (601) 825-4566

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to 2005, the officials of the City of Natchez, Mississippi consistently acted to protect and preserve the City's publicly owned lands located at the top of the bluff overlooking the Mississippi River. For example, the City's Code of Ordinances specially provided that "No development, with the exception of limited interpretive and commemorative objects,/signs, shall be permitted on those publicly-owned lands located above the bluff, including those which once constituted the City's original Spanish parade ground." (Record at 49, RE at 121). These public lands were included in the City's "Waterfront Development District" which provided that this zoning district was "intended to preserve the open and undeveloped character of those publicly-owned lands located above the bluff" (Record at 46, RE at 120).

This special class of public property included a 2.88 acre bluff top property donated to Natchez in 1995. This bluff top property fronts Broadway Street and had been partially developed with a pecan shelling factory building and related smaller buildings. The property is commonly referred to as the "Old Pecan Factory Site." Beyond the buildings lay an expanse of open area which terminated at the bluff overlooking the Mississippi River.

Appellants J. Neil Varnell and Sarge Preston are long-time residents, taxpayers and landowners within the City of Natchez, Mississippi. (Record at 119, RE at 22). J. Neil Varnell owns property in the neighborhood of the Old Pecan Factory site. Sarge Preston owns real property directly adjacent to the site. (Id.) Appellant Gwendolyn E. Ball is a resident, taxpayer and landowner within the City of Natchez, Mississippi. Mrs. Ball's residence is near the subject

property. (Record at 122, RE at 25). Each of the Appellants has engaged in recreational activities on the site of the subject property, including but not limited to walking and enjoying the scenic vistas.

The Mississippi Department of Archives and History ("MDAH") designated the site as a Mississippi Landmark. See Section 39-7-11. The site is described by MDAH as "very sensitive part[] of the historic fabric of Natchez." (Record at 360, RE at 78). In addition to its historical significance, the site is "quite unique. It offers a beautiful view of the Mississippi River and of Louisiana." (Record at 256, RE at 39).¹

In the late 1990's the property benefitted from a major bluff stabilization project. (Record at 291, RE at 52) (See also House Bill 1932, 1997 Regular Session).

In 2002, the subject property appraised for \$1,035,000.00. (Record at 256, RE at 39).²

In 2005, Natchez began marketing the Old Pecan Factory Site. Natchez did not publish a notice of intent to sell the subject property as required by Section 21-17-1(2)(a). Nor did the City make the findings required by 21-17-1(2)(a) which would allow the City to transfer the property after having the property appraised by three (3) professional property appraisers under Section 21-17-1(2)(b).

Instead in April, 2005, the City contacted fourteen individuals and solicited proposals concerning the purchase of the property. By June 28, 2005, the Board of Aldermen of the City adopted a resolution "to award and enter into a contract for the proposal made by Ed Worley and

¹ In the opinion of an appraiser hired by Natchez in 2002, the site "is one of the most valuable pieces fo property in Natchez." (Record at 256, RE at 39).

² The appraiser believed that a \$66,750.00 deduction should apply to cover demolition and removal of a structure. The result was a net value of \$968,250.00. (Id.)

Larry L. Brown, Jr." (Record 151, RE at 43). Thereafter on August 9, 2005, the Board of Aldermen of the City, after an executive session, adopted a resolution to "enter an option development agreement with Worley Brown, LLC for the sale and development of the city-owned Pecan Shelling Factory site on Broadway Street." (Record at 284, RE at 45).

The Resolution recited that the City "has determined that the property is surplus and no longer needed for municipal purposes and that it is in the best interest of the City and of the citizens of this community that the property be sold pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann.* 1972 §57-7-1, revised 2003, for the purposes set forth herein and on the conditions and terms set forth hereinafter." (Record at 285, RE at 46) (Italics in original).

The "Option/Development Agreement" attached to the Resolution provided that the option would expire at 5:00 p.m., on February 9, 2006. (Record at 288, RE at 49). The Option contains no provision for extension of the Option Period beyond February 9, 2006.

¶3.2 of the Option states that the "primary purpose for which Optionee is purchasing and the Optioner is selling the Property is for Optionee to use the Property for the purpose of constructing, establishing, marketing and/or operating and maintaining Condominium Units on the property. (Record at 294, RE at 55). ¶4.2(a) of the Option expressly states the "Purchaser will develop on the subject property Condominium Units consisting of approximately 75 luxury residential units, a clubhouse, swimming pool and other related commons area and facilities." (Emphasis added) (Record at 297, RE at 58).

Under the Option, Worley Brown LLC, is granted the right to purchase the subject property during the Option Period for \$500,000.00. (Record at 294, RE at 55). This price is

\$535,000.00, less than the 2002 Gross Value arrived at by the City's appraiser.³ The Option provides that the "total proposed investment of the Optionee excluding the land cost shall be approximately \$19,300,000." (Record at 297, RE at 58).

The Option committed the City to expend substantial sums in relation to improvements to and around the subject property after the transfer of the property to Worley Brown LLC:

- 1. The City will provide water and sewer service to the right of way line;
- 2. The City is to expend up to \$50,000.00, for utility relocation;
- 3. The City is to provide an "improved and lighted walkway" and shall maintain the existing sidewalk;
- 4. The City is to maintain and control vegetation at the edge of the subject property;
- 5. The City is to pay for "reasonable engineering services";
- 6. The City waived its building permit fee;
- 7. The City will grant "an exemption from any and all municipal ad valorem taxes ... on unsold developer-owned condominium units ... for two (2) years from the date of first occupancy...."
- 8. The City is to forgo any future Oil & Gas Leases on the subject property; and,
- 9. The City is to indemnify Worley Brown LCC against certain claims.

The Option further provides that Worley Brown, LLC, shall "disclose to the City ten (10) days prior to a closing ... [t]he approximate budget for development of the Property." (Record at 301, RE at 62).

³ Suspiciously, the appraiser revised his 2002 appraisal in 2006 to reduce the net value to \$714,000.00. The record does not reflect an appraisal current for 2006.

By correspondence dated January 23, 2006, counsel for Worley Brown, LLC, requested the City to grant it a 30 day extension of the Option Period. (Record at 386, RE at 80).

This request was taken up at the "Regular Meeting" of the Board of Aldermen held on January 24, 2006. (Record 387, RE at 81). Mayor Phillip West was absent from the meeting as were two (2) aldermen. Four (4) aldermen were physically present. Mayor West attempted to preside over the meeting "via telephone." During the Meeting an objection was made to the lack of quorum and due to the fact the Mayor was on the telephone and complaining about the quality of the sound. No advance notice of the City's plan to conduct public business through teleconference was given in accordance with Section 25-41-5.

At the January 24, 2006, Meeting the City purportedly adopted a resolution extending the time in which Worley Brown LLC, could exercise the option for 30 days from and after February 9, 2006. (Record at 411, RE at 87).

On February 3, 2006, the Appellants perfected their appeal by filing their Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions concerning the extension of the Option Period beyond February 9, 2006. (Clerk's Docket, RE at 3).

On February 14, 2006, the City purported to exercise jurisdiction over issue of the expiration of the Option Period. (Record at 413, RE at 89). Jurisdiction over the issue of the expiration of the Option Period was again purportedly exercised by the City at its Regular Meeting on February 28, 2006, when the City authorized an extension until March 31, 2006. (Record at 417, RE at 91). On March 28, 2006, the City again attempted to exercise jurisdiction over the extension of the Option Period by purportedly extending the expiration date to April 25, 2006. (Record at 420, RE at 93).

No action was taken at the April 25, 2006, Regular Meeting to further extend the Option Period beyond April 25, 2006. (Record at 424, RE at 95).

Despite the expiration of the Option, the City, on May 9, 2006, again purportedly exercised jurisdiction over the subject matter of the Option and the extension of the Option Period and voted to "extend the time to exercise the option of the Worley-Brown project until the Regular Board Meeting of May 23, 2006. (Record at 427, RE at 97).

By letter dated May 22, 2006, counsel for Worley Brown LLC, purported to give "Notice of Exercise" of the Option. (Record at 434, RE at 98).

On May 30, 2006, the City held a "Special Meeting" which it claimed was "pursuant to notice provided in open session at the May 23, 2006." (Record at 438, RE at 101). However no notice of the Special Meeting was given in accordance with Section 25-41-13 and a copy of any such notice was not made a part of the minutes.

At the May 30, 2006, "Special Meeting," the Mayor and Board of Alderman were presented with documents which included the Affidavit of Gwendolyn E. Ball which set forth the following:

There is no order entered on the minutes of the Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi, authorizing the execution of a deed of conveyance to that property commonly known as the Pecan Factory Property, located in Natchez, Adams County, Mississippi.

The Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi has failed to publish at least once each week for three (3) consecutive weeks, in a public newspaper of the municipality in which the Pecan Factory Property is located, notice of the intention to sell the subject property and to accept competitive bids.

The Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi has failed to accept sealed competitive bids for the sale of the Pecan Factory Property.

The Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi, has not accepted bids for the sale of the subject property and has not awarded the sale of the subject property to the highest bidder in the manner provided by law.

The Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi has not, by resolution duly and lawfully adopted and spread upon its minutes determined that the Pecan Factory Property is no longer needed for municipal or related purposes and is not to be used in the operation of the municipality; that the sale of such property in the manner otherwise provided by law is not necessary or desirable for the financial welfare of the municipality; and that the use of such property for the purpose for which it is to be sold, conveyed or leased will promote and foster the development and improvement of the community in which it is located and the civic, social, educational, cultural, moral, economic or industrial welfare thereof.

The Governing Authority of the City of Natchez, Mississippi, has not had the requisite number of appraisals of the Pecan Factory Property performed by professional property appraisers in conformity with State Law.

The decision under consideration is arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, or not supported by substantial evidence.

The proposed action violates the State Constitution and constitutes a prohibited gift or donation to the option holder. The value of the Pecan Factory Property far exceeds the purchase price under the option. The terms of the transaction are such that the City would spend as much as the purchase price on improvements to the property after the sale.

(Record at 443-444, RE at 104-105).

It was brought to the attention of the City that it no longer had jurisdiction over the matter; that it had failed to comply with Sections 21-17-1 et seq.; that the proposed property use was residential; that the decision under consideration was arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, and not supported by substantial evidence; and moreover that the action violates the Mississippi Constitution and constitutes a prohibited gift or donation. (Record at 439, Re At 102).

Notwithstanding the issues raised at the Meeting the City proceeded with the execution and delivery of the "proposed deed of conveyance." (Record at 448, RE at 106). The record does

not establish that the City was provided with any of the information required by the Option, including, but not limited to, the "approximate budget for the development." (Record at 301, RE at 62).

On June 8, 2006, the Appellants perfected their appeal of the actions taken by the Mayor and board of Aldermen of the City of Natchez, on May 30, 2006. (Record at 110, RE at 13).

The two appeals were consolidated and oral arguments were presented to the Honorable Forrest Al Johnson on July 31, 2006. These appeals were subsequently submitted to the Court by a "Final Amended and Consolidated Bill of Exceptions."

On November 17, 2006, the Circuit Court issued its ruling denying the relief sought by the Appellants. (Record at 505-507, RE at 5-7). The Circuit Court determined that:

- 1. The Court had jurisdiction to hear the appeal.
- 2. The Appellants had standing to pursue the consolidated appeal.
- 3. The City's actions were authorized by Section 57-7-1
- 4. That the development in question was commercial within the meaning of Section 57-7-1
- 5. The option extensions were "reasonable and necessary" and within the authority of the City to grant and "did not violate any statutory or constitutional rights."
- 6. That "all of meetings in question were legal and conformed to existing practice and procedures as set out by law."
- 7. That the "price for the property was reasonable, given all the factors considered and within the authority of the Mayor and Board to accept."

- 8. That Worley Brown LLC's purported right to "secure the sidewalk, with gating or otherwise, after normal daylight hours" was not reasonable; not supported by the evidence and contrary to the authority of the City under the statute in question." In addition the right was contrary to the proposal submitted to the City.
- 9. "All remaining issues not specifically addressed ... are resolved against the appellants...."

(Record at 506-507, RE at 5-7).

The Appellants timely perfected their appeal to this Honorable Court.

II. SUMMARY OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Should the Taxpayers, Landowners and Residents of a Mississippi municipality be denied access to judicial review of the failure of municipal officials to conduct public meetings in conformity with State Law and the municipality's charter and to review actions taken by municipal officials to transfer valuable municipal property in a manner not authorized by State Law?
- 2. Can the officials of a Mississippi municipality ignore State Law and the municipality's charter and conduct public business during meetings with no quorum physically present?
- 3. Should the cases of South Cent. Turf, Inc. v. City of Jackson, 526 So.2d 558 (Miss. 1988) and Gatlin v. Cook, 380 So.2d 236 (Miss. 1980) be over turned and abandoned and the authority and jurisdiction of Circuit Courts and Appellate Courts made subordinate and inferior to the jurisdiction of municipalities following an appeal perfected pursuant to

- Section 11-51-75 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended?⁴
- 4. Does Section 57-7-1 allow a Mississippi municipality to sell municipal real estate without first improving the property for industrial and commercial purposes?
- 6. Does Section 57-7-1 allow a Mississippi municipality to sell municipal real estate for residential purposes?
- 7. Does Section 57-7-1 allow a Mississippi municipality to sell municipal real estate with no idea as to the present value of the subject property or the anticipated cost of improvements which the municipality obligates itself to make in relation to the transfer of the subject property?
- 8. May a Mississippi municipality by waiver of fees, taxes and its commitment to infrastructure improvements, in effect, donate municipal real property and funds to private individuals in exchange for those individuals' nebulous proposal to invest millions of dollars in a residential development on the subject real property?
- 9. Should a Court charged with reviewing a Mississippi municipality's sale of municipal property be left to guess the present value of the real property involved or the anticipated cost of improvements to which the municipality obligated itself to make in relation to the transfer of the subject property?
- 10. Were the actions of the Governing Authorities of the City of Natchez, Mississippi, otherwise arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, not supported by substantial evidence or an unlawful donation of real property and funds?

⁴ Unless indicated all statutory citations are to provisions of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court committed reversible error by failing to declare the City's Meeting of January 24, 2006, and the actions purportedly taken during the meeting, to be void due to the failure of the municipal authorities to have a quorum. A proper ruling on this point establishes that the Option Agreement entered into by the City expired by its own terms.

Due to the timely appeal of the actions taken at the January 24, 2006, meeting, i.e., improper meeting and improper obligation of the City under the Option to a time beyond February 9, 2006, the City had no jurisdiction to reconsider or further extend the Option Period.

Furthermore, the lower court committed reversible error by failing to declare that the sale of the Old Pecan Factory site was arbitrary, capricious, illegal, unsupported by substantial evidence and an improper donation of public lands and funds to a private company. First the City attempted to proceed under a statute which covers surplus airport property. Second that statute (§57-7-1) clearly required that the surplus land be "set aside and improved" and "thereafter" sold for "commercial and industrial" purposes. None of these conditions were met. The City did not improve the Old Pecan Factory and just sold it for residential, not industrial or commercial purposes.

Moreover the City used a four (4) year old appraisal to arrive at a value for the property and then made concessions without any indication of the cost of the concession and the net effect of the sale of the property. The minutes of the City are devoid of sufficient information necessary for a reviewing court to engage in any meaningful analysis consistent with the judiciary's role as a separate branch of government, i.e, to act as a check and balance. The bottom line is that the City did not have sufficient information to know whether the deal into which it had entered was

an improper donation or otherwise just the arbitrary and capricious disposal of some of the most valuable and historic land in Natchez.

The lower court and the City should be reversed and a judgment rendered for the Appellants.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standing⁵

J. Neil Varnell and Sarge Preston are long-time residents, taxpayers and landowners within the City of Natchez, Mississippi. (Record at 119, RE at 22). J. Neil Varnell owns property in the neighborhood of the Pecan Factory site. Sarge Preston owns real property directly adjacent to the site. (Id.) Gwendolyn E. Ball is a resident, taxpayer and landowner within the City of Natchez, Mississippi. Mrs. Ball's residence is near the subject property. (Record at 122, RE at 28). These parties claim that the actions being appealed will adversely impact their properties by adverse impact on values and aesthetics; that each of these parties has engaged in recreational activities on the site of the subject property, including but not limited to walking and enjoying the scenic vistas; that these activities are not engaged in by the general public and that the actions being appealed will adversely impact their continued pursuit of those activities. (Id.) They further

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