IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-02126

GWENDOLYN E. BALL ET AL

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

- VERSUS -

MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF NATCHEZ, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE CITY OF NATCHEZ, MISSISSIPPI

Walter Brown Law Firm PLLC P. O. Box 963

Natchez, Mississippi 39121 Telephone: (601) 442-4242 Facsimile: (601) 442-3996

E-Mail: wlawfirm@bellsouth.net

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The City of Natchez is a Special Charter City and as such and like other municipalities in the State, it has the power to sell or otherwise dispose of municipal surplus property under the several statutes including §21-17-1 and §57-7-1. For over a year and a half from January of 2005 until August of 2006, the City Council conducted a very deliberative, open and elaborate process to select a responsible and responsive developer in an open and public manner, and to contract with that developer and require it to meet all applicable local and state ordinances and laws including Historic Preservation review by the Natchez Preservation Commission and the Mississippi Department of Archives and History. The City Council conducted its meetings and deliberations in a lawful manner, exercised its legislative authority under §57-7-1 to dispose of surplus lands not needed for governmental purposes for a commercial enterprise, and as such, the actions of the Board were supported by substantial evidence, were not arbitrary or capricious, were within the scope of the City's powers and in no way violated the appellants' statutory or constitutional rights.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Decisions or orders of a municipality are to be upheld unless such decision or order was unsupported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary or capricious, was beyond the municipality's scope of powers, or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved parties. "The substantial evidence requirement for review of administrative decisions is met where the record includes such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Falco Lime, Inc. v City of Vicksburg, 836 So.2d 711 (2003)

ARGUMENT

I. Jurisdiction

Preliminary to consideration of any appeal is the question of whether or not the reviewing Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter. In this case, it is true the appellants filed their Notice of Appeal in a timely manner after the May 30, 2006 execution and delivery of the deed by the

Mayor; however, it should be pointed out that the Council took no action at that meeting, the Mayor having his prior authority and contractual obligation to execute and deliver the deed on notice of exercise of the Option by the developer as set forth in the Resolution of August 9, 2005. Further, no appeal was taken of the Council's action on August 9, 2005. For this reason, the City of Natchez respectfully submits the failure of the appellants to take a timely appeal after the August 9, 2005 meeting at which full authority was given to the Mayor to execute the deed, deprives the Circuit Court and thus this Court of any jurisdiction on the action taken solely by the Mayor on May 30, 2006 when he executed and delivered the deed to the developer with no action whatsoever by the City Council, it being unnecessary.

The failure of the appellants to take a *timely* appeal from the **August 9, 2005** City Council meeting deprived the Circuit Court of its jurisdiction under §11-51-75 and therefore this appeal should be dismissed as untimely because neither the Circuit Court nor this Court has jurisdiction.

Newell v Jones County, 731 So. 2d 580 (1999)

II. Standing

Mississippi law is very clear that for "aggrieved parties" to have a basis to challenge a municipality's actions, they must allege, and have some plausible contention that they have suffered an injury different from any other citizen or that they have personally suffered the deprivation of a legal right. In this case, the appellants have raised more than half a dozen issues, and in the course of the City's argument hereafter, the issue of standing of these appellants and the standard to be applied will be addressed as such issues are discussed.

III. The Sale of Real Property by a Municipality

Throughout the appellants' brief the central theme of the discussion is how may a municipality dispose or sell its surplus real property. It is pertinent to note that this particular real property has *never* been used by the City for *any* municipal purpose and the City so declared in its August 9, 2005 Resolution that it was surplus and not needed for municipal purposes which is uncontradicted. While there are numerous statutes in Mississippi dealing with the sale of real property by governmental bodies, particularly for economic development purposes, the statutes

discussed here will be §21-17-1 and §57-7-1 of the Mississippi Code.

§21-17-1 is the statute often followed by local authorities, but clearly not the exclusive statute which a municipality may follow in selling its property. For some reason, the appellants seem to be fixed on the proposition that §21-17-1 mandates bids be taken, for throughout this case and in its brief they have talked mightily about selling real property without "advertising" or taking such bids.

§21-17-1(2)(a) provides that a City *may* sell its property by going through a public bid process and accepting sealed, competitive bids and then states a city "shall award the lease or sale to the highest bidder." Clearly it was not in the City's best interest to sell this riverfront property to the "highest bidder" who might have plans incompatible with the City's Riverfront Development Plan or it may have no plans (as in the Biglane proposal) whatsoever for an acceptable development project which obviously the City Council was looking for in its request for proposals by setting forth therein and asking for (a) the type of development, (b) the amount of the investment, (c) the time line for commencement and completion and certainly not last, but not controlling was (d) the consideration to be paid for the land. So it was important for the Natchez City Council to disregard the "bid" option of §21-17-1(2)(a) as it did and as this Court should do in determining the reasonableness and appropriateness of the City's approach in the sale of this particular real property.

§21-17-1(2)(a) and (b) also provides a second alternative and that is to establish a minimum value by three appraisals of the property and then sell the property to a buyer upon a determination that the "use of such property for the purpose for which it is to be sold, conveyed or leased will promote and foster the development and improvement of the community in which it is located and the . . . economic . . . welfare thereof" without having to advertise for and accept competitive bids. This is often the manner in which municipal property is sold and this was available if the City so chose.

It is important however to note that §21-17-1(11) also contains the following language:

"The powers conferred by this section shall be in addition and supplementary to the powers conferred by any other law, and nothing contained in this section shall be construed to prohibit, or to prescribe conditions concerning any practice or practices authorized under any other law. (Emphasis Added)

In this case, and at this juncture in the sale process, the City had provided in its April, 2005 Request for Proposals that proposals would be considered and an award made on the basis of §21-17-1, but upon receiving the five proposals from very sophisticated local and out of town developers, none of the five proposals met the price established by the one appraisal received at that point which was \$714,900. In fact, it is pertinent to note that the average of the five proposals was only \$460,000. (R.112, R.E. 15)

Keeping in mind that §21-17-1 is "supplementary" to other laws and does not prohibit the use of other laws in selling surplus municipal property, at this point the City could have obtained two other appraisals and negotiated with the developer or developers to raise (or lower) their proposed purchase price, or it could have, as it did, utilize its statutory authority under §57-7-1 in disposing of the subject property and selecting the best developer for the City's riverfront development. Exercising its legislative authority, the City chose to use §57-7-1 and so stated in its Resolution adopted on August 9, 2005. (R.285, R.E. 46)

Thus, it is respectfully submitted that all the discussion by the appellant about taking bids, public notices and the various other commentary, including appraisals does not in any way make the City's actions improper or illegal, but in fact, in conformity with state law assuming all other requirements under §57-7-1 are met which the City contends were, as discussed hereinafter.

IV. The January 24, 2006 Meeting

A. There was a quorum of the City Council present at the meeting.

Much has been said by the appellants as to the manner in which the Natchez City Council conducted this meeting, and particularly that part of the meeting dealing with extension of the Option, i.e., the appellants say a quorum was not present and therefore the actions of the City were void.

It is undisputed that four of the seven members of the City Council were present and that the Mayor participated by telephone as a fifth person in accordance with §25-41-5 which provides for such telephonic participation. However, it is not §25-41-5 alone on which the City relies as its basis for the position that there was a quorum present. The validating authority is found in the language

of the City's Special Charter, Section 19 which provides in pertinent part as follows:

"The legislative and contracting power of said City of Natchez shall be vested in a City Council to be constituted by said Mayor and Aldermen with power to make and establish rules of its own government; to appoint and regulate the times of its regular meetings, and to alter the same at pleasure; (and) to appoint such subordinate officers as it may deem necessary for each term of office and with such regulations as it may by ordinance prescribe. A majority of said council shall constitute a quorum and said Mayor shall be the presiding officer . . ." (R. 474, R.E.115)

Thus the Special Charter of the City of Natchez states clearly that the City Council is composed of the Mayor and six aldermen, a total of seven persons, and "that a majority of said council shall constitute a quorum." A council consisting of seven members with four members being present, clearly show a quorum was present and that the action taken by the City Council on January 24, 2006 to extend the Option was procedurally correct and proper under the City's Special Charter.

The appellants reliance on §21-3-19 is simply not well taken. A review of Volume 6 of the Mississippi Code, Title 21 and specifically §21-1-9 reflects therein the various classifications of municipalities in Mississippi including Code Charters. §21-3-1 et seq., including the section relied upon by appellants (§21-3-19) are under "code charters." It is interesting to note that §21-1-1 provides that nothing in the classification of municipalities shall affect the status of any municipal corporation heretofore created and now existing and all such municipal corporations, including villages, shall continue to exist as such with all the rights and privileges thereof.

Further, §21-1-11 provides that

"The courts shall take judicial notice of the class to which each of the municipalities of the state belong and of its powers under the provisions of this title."

As this Court so well knows, Mississippi in its wisdom has provided for a number of forms of governments for municipalities. Natchez and many older cities have what is known as a Special or Private Charter. Other Special Charter cities are McComb, Vicksburg, Aberdeen and Greenville for example. The City of Natchez was settled in 1716, received its first Special Charter in 1803 and is currently operating under its 1846 Charter, see Laws of Mississippi 1846 at Page 479. (Also see as Addendum A excerpt from City's Charter Historical note.)

In addition to "Code Charters," the Legislature has also provided in Title 21 for Commission forms, (§21-5-1), Council forms (§21-7-1), Mayor-Council form (§21-8-1) and Council-Manager plan (§21-9-1).

The law in Mississippi is that provisions of a "Special Charter" which are contrary to general statutory provisions (such as §21-3-19) are viewed as *exceptions* to the statutory provisions except where general statutes expressly provide otherwise, i.e., language in the statute which says that the general statute supercedes the provisions of a Special Charter on such a subject or when a Special Charter is silent on such subject. In *Tisdale v City of Aberdeen et al* 856 So.2d 323 (2003), the Supreme Court opined that because the Charter was *silent* on the subject of appointment of the City Attorney, the general statute would apply. In this instance, the Natchez City Charter, Section 19 *expressly* provides that the Mayor and Aldermen constitute the City Council and further that a majority of the City Council constitutes a quorum for the conduct of business.

Clearly here there is a conflict between the "Code Charter" provision §21-3-19 and Section 19 of the Special Charter of the City of Natchez as to what constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business and as such the Special Charter provision controls. First, it should be noted there is *no provision* in the Code Charter Law §21-3-1 et seq. or any other statute for that matter, that expressly provides that §21-3-19 is applicable to special charter cities. Simply put, the Legislature has not so expressed under Code Charter provisions any superiority over provisions of Special Charters and for that reason the Attorney General of Mississippi has consistently stated that such conflicts should be resolved in favor of the provisions of a Special Charter.

In this regard, it is relevant and on point to note that in the Title 21 municipal statutes, the Legislature has specifically set forth when and what provisions of a particular municipal statute should prevail over Special Charter provisions. For example, see §21-13-21 (Ordinances), 21-15-39 (Officers and Records), and §21-8-41 (Mayor-Council Form of Government). In addition, as a clear expression of the Legislature as to the dominance of a general statute, as well as when exceptions are made to Special Charter cities, see §21-17-13 (attached as Addendum B)

Thus, there being no expression by the Legislature that the Code Charter cited by appellant

shall be applicable and thus supercede contrary provisions in a city's Special Charter, then §21-3-19 is simply not applicable and the transaction of business by the City Council of the City of Natchez is governed by its Special Charter provision, Section 19.

(See also as to the "conflict" question Attorney General Opinions to the City of Waveland (1993) by Phil Carter, City of Greenville (1996) by Alice Wise, and City of Greenville (1996) by Samuel W. Keyes.) (see Addendum C hereto)

It is true that the City of Natchez at the meeting in question conducted the meeting with four members of the City Council present and with Mayor Phillip West participating by telephone from Jackson under §25-41-5, which states in subsection (2) that

"A public body may conduct any meeting, other than an Executive Session called pursuant to §25-41-7... through teleconference... If a quorum of the public body is physically assembled at one (1) location for the purpose of conducting a meeting, additional members of the public body may participate in the meeting through teleconference... provided their participation is available to the general public."

Clearly under the Special Charter of the City of Natchez, Section 19, a "quorum of the public body", i.e., the City Council was physically assembled at one (1) location for the purpose of conducting a meeting through teleconference.

Thus under Section 19 of the Special Charter of the City of Natchez and §25-41-5, the meeting held by the City Council was conducted with a quorum of that body present.

B. The City Acted Legally and Within Terms of the Contract in Extending the Date for Exercise of the Option Because of the Pending Issues before the Mississippi Department of Archives and History.

The second question raised as to the actions of the City Council was the extension of the Option at the request of the developer. At the outset, the City would suggest there is a serious question as to whether or not these appellants have standing to raise such a question.

In Mississippi, parties have standing to sue when they assert a "colorable" interest in the subject matter or experience an adverse effect from the conduct of the defendant. In *Burgess v City of Gulfport*, 814 So.2d 148 (2002), Justice Waller, writing for the Court, found that the parties "lacked standing." Said the Court citing from *City of Madison v Bryan*, 763 So.2d 162 (Miss. 2000)

"Bryan lacked standing to challenge the municipality's action pursuant to §11-51-75

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